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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE 
Facing east and south from its prominent location at the corner of Lucas Avenue and 11th 
Street on the northwestern edge of St. Louis' Central Business District, the Hadley-Dean 
Glass Co. is a seven-story, red brick commercial structure. The architectural refinement 
of the exterior, with its rhythmic arches embracing amply fenestrated panels, belies the 
structural solidity of the building, which was designed to support twenty-seven million 
pounds of merchandise. In surprising contrast to the late Victorian exterior, the 
interior lobby is enlivened by a colorful display of Egyptian motifs on white glazed 
tile, an Art Deco wonder added ca. 1928. 

Hadley-Dean is of brick bearing wall exterior construction, with an interior framework 
of slow-combustion, heavy-timber construction. Cast iron columns, plastered to resemble 
Classical columns, provide added structural support for the first and second floors. 
Divided into three bays on the east and six bays on the south, the building is a 
rectangular block measuring approximately 60' by 100'. Although partially connected on 
the north to an annex (a former fire house), the Hadley-Dean building has structural 
integrity. Therefore, the annex, of later construction and under separate ownership, 
has not been included in the nomination. 

Cream-colored terra-cotta and Bedford stone enliven the red brick exterior, which is 
visually divided into base, shaft and attic. At the first story, rusticated piers with 
alternating bands of brick and Bedford stone rise to a brick frieze capped by a 
projecting stone stringcourse. Visually supported by stone bases, pilasters rise from 
the second story, culminating in arches at the sixth story. Terra-cotta lion's heads 
embellish the capitals of the pilasters and terra-cotta arches with ornamental borders 
and imbricated scroll keystones frame the sixth story windows, completing the shaft. A 
stringcourse with underscoring dentate band marks the transition to attic story. 
Projecting from that.stringcourse on the southeast corner is a cartouche containing the 
Hadley-Dean monogram. Capping the attic is a projecting cornice with fasciated 
architrave of brownish-grey brick and dentate band; a parapet wall above completes the 
composition. 

The interior lobby/office area of the first floor was transformed ca. 1928 into an Art 
Deco environment of shiny white, glazed tile walls emblazoned with vividly colored 
Egyptian motifs. Vultures, scarabs, lotus~s, hieroglyphs, cobras, hawks and winged sun 
discs"fre included in the repertoire of stylized Egyptian symbols that embellishes the 
walls _apd coffered ceilings. The west wall is highlighted by an elaborate doorway 
framed with a battered, Egyptian architrave. A winged sun disc hovers above the 
copper-plated door, which is ornamented with a panel depicting an Egyptian queen. To 
the right and left of the doorway attendants offer tribute, and octagonal, engaged 
columns flank the total composition. 

The decorative glass tile Lhat swathes the interior lobby was known as Sani-Onyx, In a 
process kr.0•1n as "Tiffany Faience," pigments were applied to lightly sandblasted 
designs pr'1or to glazing. Egyptian Faience, such as that once found in the now­
demo'lisfieo Marietta Manufacturing Company's home office in Indianapolis, Indiana, 
and such as tnat remaining in Hadley-Dean, is now exceedingly rare. 
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The Hadley-Dean Glass Co. is significant as an important surv1v1ng late Victorian 
commercial structure combining architectural refinement with functional structural 
solidity and as the factory/warehouse of the Hadley-Dean Glass Co., a thriving St. Louis 
industry and one of the first plate glass finns established west of the Mississippi 
River. Designed by the office of prominent St. Louis architect Isaac S. Taylor, the 
building has changed little since its construction ca. 1903 and is representative of 
the architectural character of the business district of St. Louis in its cornrnercial 
heyday at the turn-of-the-century. The Art Deco interior of the lobby/office area, 
added ca. 1928, is done in a remarkable Egyptianizing style and is significant as a 
rare example of a technique of glass tile manufacture known as Egyptian faience. Slated 
for adaptive reuse as commercial and office space, the future of Hadley-Dean is more 
secure than that of most historic buildings in the Central Business District of St. 
Louis. It is hoped that revitalization of this structure may spur the eventual 
rehabilitation of other historic buidlings in the area. 

Established ca. 1897 by Leo G. Hadley and Owen M. Dean, Hadley-Dean Glass Co. was the 
largest independent factory in the country and the only plate glass finn west of the 
Mississippi River by 1901. Expanding beyond the capacity of their structure at the 
southwest corner of Lucas Avenue and North 11th Street, Hadley-Dean began undertakings 
for a new structure as early as 1901. The October 1901 edition of The Builder reported 
the design of a building ''which will be substantial but have delicate lines. A series rif 
arches will give a graceful effect and lighting facilities will be excellent." 

On February 17, 1903, a building pennit was issued to the company for the construction 
of a seven-story brick warehouse at 703 North 11th Street. The St. Louis Daily Recoro 
of February 19th of that year documented the retention of Isaac S. Taylor, 3rchitect, 
and Nicholas Peligreen, contractor, as well as the building's estimated cost of 
$60,000.00. Although the design is documented as being the product of Isaac Taylor, 
Hadley-Dean is more likely to be the product of Oscar Enders, Taylor's highly praised 
draftsman. 

During the first decade of the twentieth century, Hadley-Dean produced every type of • 
glass from plate glass to art glass to mirrors. Early contracts included glass for the 
Carleton Building in St. Louis, which called for the largest piece of plate glass in the 
world to date (Measuring 142' x 210' and weighing four hundred pounds, it took nine \.,. 
months to manufacture), the Adolphus Busch Hotel in Dallas and the Hybernian Bank 
Building in New Orleans. Awarded the largest glass contract received by a single firm, 
Hadley-Dean furnished glass for numerous buildings of the 1904 World's Fair in St. Louis. 
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1 of 5. Overall view, looking SW. The two-story annex on the right is not an integral part of the 
Hadley-Dean Glass Co. building and is not included in the nomination. 
2 of 5. View looking W, showing 11th St. façade. Access to the lobby/office area is obtained through 
the central doorway. 
3 of 5. View looking N, showing Lucas Ave. façade. Five freight entrances provide access to an 
interior corridor containing two freight elevators. 
4 of 5. Interior, view looking N, showing Egyptian Art Deco treatment of office/lobby area. A narrow 
staircase with aluminum railing rises at either side of the main entrance, connecting the first floor to 
the mezzanines. Dichromatic lotus patterns and polychromatic hieroglyphics ornament the ceiling 
beams; multi-colored vultures hover on the walls beneath the mezzanines. 
5 of 5. Interior, view of W wall of office/lobby. Visual emphasis is directed toward a copper-plated door 
framed by an elaborate Egyptian architrave featuring winged sun disc and pendant cobras. An 
Egyptian queen, surrounded by symbols of her sovereignty, is depicted in multi-colors on the doors 
central panel, which is rimmed with stylized designs in metallic gold and white. Colorfully ornamented, 
octagonal columns flank the W wall, which is embellished with an equally colorful retinue of 
attendants. 
 














